CURRENE COURT

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

			FILED
IN THE MATTE	R OF	No. S237762	MAR 2 0 2017
C.H.	) Minor and Appellant )	<b>F</b>	Jorge Navarrete Clerk
PEOPLE OF THI	E STATE	4	Deputy
CALIFORNIA,	Plaintiff and Respondent )	(Court of Appeal Case No. A14612 Contra Costa Con Superior Court	20;
	v. )	No. J11-00679)	•
С.Н.	Defendant and Appellant )		

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Three Filed August 30, 2016

Patricia N. Cooney
Attorney at Law
California State Bar No. 118198
1108 Fresno Avenue
Berkeley, California 94707
(510) 525-0584
patriciancooney@aim.com

This case presents the following questions for review:

- 1. Did the juvenile court err by refusing to order the expungement of appellant's DNA record after his qualifying felony conviction was redesignated a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 (Penal Code, sec. 1170.18)?<sup>1</sup>
- 2. Does the retention of appellant's DNA sample violate equal protection because a person who committed the same offense after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1.</sup> All further references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

Proposition 47 was enacted would be under no obligation to provide a DNA sample?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 19, 2011, Appellant C.H., was charged in an Original Juvenile Wardship Petition, pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 602, with a second degree robbery (sec. 211/212.5, subd. (c)) and an assault by force likely to produce great bodily injury (sec. 245, subd. (a)). (CT 1-3.) On July 15, 2011, appellant admitted committing an amended count three, felony grand theft. (Sec. 487, subd. (c).) (CT 22.)

The disposition hearing took place on August 19, 2011 when appellant was 16 years old. (CT 25-27.) Wardship was declared with no termination date. (CT 25.) A \$500.00 restitution fine was imposed. (CT 26.) Pursuant to section 296.1 appellant was required to submit his DNA to the state, based on his adjudicated felony offense. (CT 26.)

On June 5, 2015 appellant filed a petition for modification based on the voter initiative Proposition 47, codified as section 1170.18. The petition sought designation of appellant's felony theft offense (sec. 487, subd. (c)) to a misdemeanor petty theft because the loss amounted to less than \$950.00. (Sec. 490.2) (CT 100-101.) Appellant requested recalculation of his confinement time to six months, reduction of his fine to an amount in accordance with the misdemeanor offense, and expungement of his DNA –

removal of his DNA offender profile from the state database and destruction of his DNA sample. (CT 100-101.)

The juvenile court granted appellant's petition in all respects except the DNA expungement request. Appellant's offense was redesignated to a misdemeanor petty theft (sec. 490.2), his fine reduced to \$50.00 and his maximum time recalculated to six months. (CT 104; RT pp. 2-4.)

As relevant to the court's denial of DNA expungement, the parties stipulated that the briefing, argument and the court's decision from the Santino-B-W matter, J13-01068, heard by the court on June 4, 2015, would be incorporated into the decision in appellant's case. (CT 105, RT 4.) The court denied appellant's DNA request on the basis of the arguments and decision made in the Santino B-W. case. (RT 4; RT 6/4/2015 pp. 1-21 [hearing on petition in Santino-B-W matter, J13-01068].)

On August 14, 2015, appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of the court's denial of his DNA request based on the recent case, *Alejandro N. v. Superior Court (San Diego)* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1209 (pet. rev. den. 10/14/2015) ["*Alejandro N.*"]. (CT 117-118.) *Alejandro N.* held that a juvenile's DNA should be expunged when his prior felony adjudication was designated a misdemeanor for all purposes pursuant to section 1170.18. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellant's request for judicial notice of the briefing in the Santino B-W case was granted. (*In re C.H.*, review granted Nov. 16, 2016, No. S237762 [previously published at 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 1139] 1144, n. 3.)

parties again agreed to submit appellant's request on the pleadings and arguments presented in another juvenile case heard by the court, the Lamont P. case, J12-00947. (RT 8.)<sup>3</sup> On August 25, 2015, the court denied appellant's reconsideration request without prejudice. (CT 121; RT 8-9; RT 8/25/2015 pp. 1-11.)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on August 27, 2015. (CT 129-130.) On August 30, 2016, the Court of Appeal filed its opinion in this case in which it affirmed the juvenile court's denial of appellant's request to expunge his DNA sample. (*In re C.H, supra,* 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 1139.)

In *In re C.H.* the Court found that the redesignation of a felony offense as a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18 did not support DNA expungement. The Court analogized to section 17, subdivision (b) which employs the identical language, "misdemeanor for all purposes", used in section 1170.18. (*In re C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at p. 1145.) The Court held it was presumptively obligated to construe the phrase "misdemeanor for all purposes" in section 1170.18 and section 17 to mean the same thing: that a redesignated offense should be treated as a misdemeanor for all purposes only after the time of redesignation. (*In re C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1146-1147.) Therefore, an offender's obligation to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The reporter's transcript of the proceedings on the Motion to Reconsider in In re Lamont P., J12-00947, is found at RT 8/25/2015 pp. 1-11 [hearing on reconsideration request on DNA denial in Lamont P. case, J12-00947]. The pleadings in the Lamont P. case referred to by the juvenile court are found at CT 122-124.

provide DNA to the state at the time of a felony conviction or adjudication was not affected by redesignation under section 1170.18. (*Id.* at p. 1147.)

The Court harmonized section 1170.18 and sections 296 and 299 of the DNA Act by finding that Proposition 47's directive that a redesignated felony is "a misdemeanor for all purposes" did not compel "expungement of DNA originally obtained as a result of a qualifying conviction or plea." (*Id.* at pp. 1148-1149.) The Court reasoned that if the provisions of the two propositions could not be harmonized then the specific crime-solving and identification provisions of Proposition 69 controlled over Proposition 47's general mandate that a redesignated crime is a misdemeanor for all purposes. (Sec. 1170. 18, subd. (k).) (*Id.* at p. 1149.) The Court of Appeal found that its reconciliation of Propositions 69 and 47 "was faithful to the public policy and purposes expressed in and supporting both initiative measures. (*Id.* at p. 1149.)

The Court also held there was no equal protection violation stemming from the retention of appellant's DNA because there is a rational basis supporting the retention of DNA from offenders convicted of felonies before Proposition 47 whose crimes have been redesignated as misdemeanors. (*Id.* at pp. 1151-1152.)

Appellant petitioned this Court for review which was granted on November 16, 2016.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 26, 2011, appellant and two friends went into the Kohl's Department Store in Brentwood, California. According to the loss prevention officer, Michael Pardini, two of the boys left Kohl's with merchandise without paying for it. C.H. selected a pair of \$46.00 jeans, went into a dressing room, then left the store through a different exit wearing the jeans. (CT 31.) He was seen outside the store wearing the jeans before all three boys rode away on their bicycles. (CT 32, 34.)

C.H. was arrested a few weeks later. (CT 32.) He said that his sister worked at Kohl's and he planned to put a pair of jeans on hold at the register so his sister could buy the jeans with her employee discount. (CT 34.) While in the dressing room C.H. got a call from one of his friends saying a loss prevention officer had stopped him outside. C.H. panicked and accidentally left the store wearing the jeans. (CT 34.)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Proposition 47, The Safe Neighborhoods And Schools Act, was passed by California voters on November 4, 2014. Proposition 47 changed portions of the Penal Code to redesignate certain drug possession and theft-related offenses from felonies or wobblers to misdemeanors, unless the offenses were committed by certain ineligible offenders. (*People v. Rivera* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1085, 1091.) Proposition 47 also created a procedure making those changes available to offenders who had previously

been convicted or adjudicated of redesignated offenses, including persons who were still serving felony sentences and those who had completed their sentences. These offenders could petition the trial court to have their crimes redesignated as misdemeanors. (Sec. 1170.18; *Alejandro N. v. Superior Court, supra*, 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1222-1223.)

Appellant C.H. took a pair of \$46.00 jeans from a store without paying and now stands guilty of a misdemeanor petty theft, section 490.2, as a result of a successful petition filed pursuant to section 1170.18, added to the Penal Code by Proposition 47. The juvenile court redesignated his 2011 felony theft adjudication as a misdemeanor for all purposes, other than firearm restrictions. (Sec. 1170.18, subds. (f), (g), and (k).) Appellant also sought expungement of his DNA - destruction of the DNA sample he had provided at the time of his felony theft adjudication prior to redesignation and removal of his DNA offender profile from the database because he no longer had a qualifying felony or misdemeanor offense. (Sec. 299.) The collection of DNA samples is authorized for felony convictions and adjudications, but not authorized based solely on the commission of a misdemeanor with the exception of sex and arson offenses. (Sec. 296; Alejandro N. v. Superior Court, supra, 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1226-1227.)

The juvenile court denied the expungement request, and the Court of Appeal affirmed the denial. (*In re C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at p. 1151.)

The Court of Appeal found that the redesignation of a felony offense as a

misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18 did not allow DNA expungement. As noted previously, the Court analogized to section 17, subdivision (b) which employs the same language – "misdemeanor for all purposes" - as section 1170.18, subdivision (k). (*Id.* at p. 1145.) The Court found that a redesignated offense should be treated as a misdemeanor for all purposes only after the time of redesignation. (*Id.* at pp. 1146-1147.).

In *Alejandro N*. appellant challenged the denial of a request to expunge his DNA sample after successful redesignation as a misdemeanor "for all purposes" under section 1170.18. *Alejandro N*. held that section 1170.18 requires that once redesignated, the affected offense shall be treated exactly like any other misdemeanor offense. Accordingly, the Court in *Alejandro N*. held appellant was entitled to an order expunging his DNA.

Other published Court of Appeal decisions, including the present case, *In re C.H.*, have expressly disagreed with the reasoning of *Alejandro N.* The majority in *In re C.B.*, review granted Nov. 9, 2016, No. S237801 [previously published at 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 1112]<sup>4</sup>, affirmed the juvenile court denial of the request to expunge C.B.'s DNA after a successful Proposition 47 redesignation, as did *In re J.C.* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1462 (pet. rev. den. 8/10/2016). (*In re C.B.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at p. 1128; *In re J.C.*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In re C.B. is on review in this Court. Cases pending on review may be cited for persuasive value. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.115, subdivision (e).)

supra, 246 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1483.) However, Justice Pollak dissented in *In* re C.B. and cited with approval Alejandro N. 's analysis in support of C.B.'s request to expunge his DNA sample.

Appellant contends that the Court of Appeal erred in affirming the denial of appellant's request to expunge his DNA sample. Proposition 47 states that redesignated offenses shall be treated as misdemeanors "for all purposes" except firearm restrictions. (Sec. 1170.18, subd. (k).) Appellant thus argues that the plain and unambiguous language of section 1170.18's provisions, particularly the "misdemeanor for all purposes" phrase in section 1170.18, subdivision (k), reveals the voters intended to remove all felony collateral consequences, except for restrictions on firearm possession, upon redesignation as a misdemeanor. DNA retention was similarly excluded. Appellant maintains that the "for all purposes" language in section 17 and section 1170.18 is not analogous because the purpose and effect of the two provisions are different. Further, appellant requests prospective expungement of his DNA, not retroactive relief as the Court of Appeal states.

Appellant also argues that Proposition 69's DNA provisions do not require retention of his DNA. In particular section 299, subdivisions (a) and (b), qualifies him for DNA expungement upon redesignation of his offense as a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18. (See sec. 296.) Additionally, appellant agrees with the Court of Appeal that Propositions 47 and 69 can

be harmonized but not as the Court of Appeal suggests. Rather the two propositions can be harmonized by acknowledging the purpose and intent of the enactors of both provisions and adopting a plausible interpretation of section 1170.18, particularly subdivision (k), consistent with these principles. Appellant submits that the expungement of DNA for redesignated misdemeanants supports the public policy behind Proposition 47 and Proposition 69.

Although the Court of Appeal did not address this contention because of its interpretation of Propositions 47 and 69, appellant argues that the recent amendment to section 299, subdivision (f), Assembly Bill 1492 ["AB 1492"], unconstitutionally amends Proposition 47 and is inconsistent with the intent of the initiative. Finally, appellant argues that retention of appellant's DNA violates the equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE REDESIGNATION PROCEDURE UNDER PROPOSITION 47 RESULTS IN A MISDEMEANOR OFFENSE "FOR ALL PURPOSES" THAT DOES NOT QUALIFY AS AN OFFENSE PERMITTING DNA COLLECTION OR RETENTION.
  - A. Background And Standard Of Review.
  - 1. Proposition 47/Section 1170.18.

Appellant's theft adjudication was properly designated as a misdemeanor petty theft for all purposes except for firearm restrictions pursuant to Proposition 47, codified in section 1170.18. Proposition 47 enacted the "Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act" effective November 5, 2014. (Sec. 1170.18, subd. (a); Alejandro N. v. Superior Court (San Diego), supra, 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1222.) The intent of the voters in passing Proposition 47 was to reclassify nonserious and nonviolent crimes as misdemeanors "for all purposes" except for firearm restrictions. (Sec. 1170.18, subd. (k).) The Act changed portions of the Penal Code and Health and Safety Code to reduce various drug possession and theft-related offenses, including petty thefts valued under \$950.00, from felonies (or wobblers) to misdemeanors, unless the offenses were committed by certain ineligible offenders. The provisions of Proposition 47 apply to juvenile offenders. (Alejandro N. v. Superior Court (San Diego), supra, 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1217, 1222-1223.) Thus, any person who committed any

of these offenses after November 5, 2014 would be convicted of a misdemeanor.

Proposition 47 also added section 1170.18 to the Penal Code. Section 1170.18 allowed retroactive application of these changes to offenders who, prior to November 5, 2014, had been convicted or adjudicated of felony drug possession or theft offenses which were now redesignated as misdemeanors. Thus, qualifying offenders who incurred their felony convictions before November 5, 2014 were able to benefit from the Act's redesignation provisions. Subdivisions (a) and (b) of section 1170.18 provide for a resentencing procedure for persons currently serving a sentence for a felony conviction that would have been a misdemeanor under the Act. The court is required to resentence the petitioner unless he or she "would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." For someone like appellant, a person "who has completed his or her sentence for a conviction" of a felony, subdivisions (f), (g), and (h) of section 1170.18 provide that the person may petition the court to have the felony conviction designated as a misdemeanor. (Sec. 1170.18, subd. (f).) The statute provides that a felony conviction that is resentenced under section 1170.18, subdivision (b) or designated as a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivision (g) "shall be considered a misdemeanor for all purposes, except that such resentencing shall not permit that person to own, possess, or have in his or her custody or control any firearm or prevent his

or her conviction" for firearm possession. (Sec. 1170.18, subd. (k), italics added). No other exceptions were listed, including retention of the offender's DNA.

#### 2. The California DNA Act.

Because appellant has only a misdemeanor adjudication for petty theft he no longer has an offense qualifying him for inclusion of his DNA in the state database.

According to the California DNA Act, as amended by Proposition 69 in 2004, the state is authorized to collect DNA from 1) adults and juveniles convicted following trial or plea of any felony offense; 2) juveniles adjudicated under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 for any felony offense; 3) adults or juveniles required to register as sex or arson offenders for a felony or misdemeanor offense. (Sec. 296, 296.1.)

Pursuant to section 299, a person who "had no past or present offense or pending charge which qualifies that person for inclusion in the DNA databank" can apply for expungement. Expungement includes destroying the DNA sample and removing the searchable database profile from the databank. (sec. 299, subd. (a).)<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The state has produced no evidence indicating that appellant has any subsequent juvenile adjudications or adult convictions for felonies or sex and arson misdemeanors, or any adult felony arrests, which would authorize the state to collect his DNA.

When appellant's offense was designated as a misdemeanor, the juvenile court was required to order appellant's DNA sample expunged. It was error for the Court of Appeal to affirm the juvenile court's order denying expungement.

#### 3. Conflicting Decisions From the Court of Appeal.

The state appellate courts have disagreed on whether expungement of DNA is required for a juvenile offender whose offense has been designated as a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18. The focus of that disagreement has been on the meaning of the provision in section 1170.18, subdivision (k), that an offense redesignated as a misdemeanor should be treated as "a misdemeanor for all purposes" except firearm restrictions.

The first case to rule on this issue was *Alejandro N*. In *Alejandro N*. appellant challenged the denial of a request to expunge his DNA sample after successful redesignation under section 1170.18. Pursuant to section 1170.18, subdivision (k), Alejandro's redesignated offense was deemed a misdemeanor "for all purposes" except for firearms restrictions. *Alejandro N*. held that section 1170.18 requires that once redesignated, the affected offense shall be treated exactly like any other misdemeanor offense and thus Alejandro was entitled to an order expunging his DNA. The Court found that because only the firearm restriction was included as an exception to the misdemeanor redesignation in section 1170.18, "the enactors effectively directed the courts not to carve out other exceptions to the

misdemeanor treatment of the redesignated offense absent some reasoned statutory or constitutional basis for doing so." (*Alejandro N. v. Superior Court (San Diego), supra*, 238 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1227, 1230.)

Subsequently, two other appellate cases, in addition to *In re C.H.*, disagreed with the reasoning and holding of *Alejandro N.* and affirmed trial court rulings denying juvenile offenders' requests to expunge their DNA after their former felony adjudications were properly redesignated as misdemeanors pursuant Proposition 47. (*In re J.C., supra*, 246 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1462; *In re C.B., supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 1112.) In *In re C.B.* Justice Pollak dissented and relied on the analysis in *Alejandro N.* in support of the juvenile offenders request to expunge his DNA.<sup>6</sup>

In *In re C.H.* the Court of Appeal found that the redesignation of a felony offense as a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18 did not allow DNA expungement. The Court analogized to section 17, subdivision (b) which employs similar language to Proposition 47. (*In re C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at p. 1145.) The Court held the phrase "a misdemeanor for all purposes" has a "well-defined meaning," citing the identical language used in section 17, subdivision (b). (*Ibid.*; sec. 17, subd. (b) (3).) The Court construed the phrase "misdemeanor for all purposes" under Proposition 47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *In re C.B.* was decided by the First District, Division Three, the same court that decided *In re C.H.* 

to mean the same as it does under section 17 -"namely, that a felony offense redesignated as a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 retains its character as a felony prior to its redesignation, and is treated as a misdemeanor only after the time of redesignation." (*Id.* at p. 1147.)

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