COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re C.H., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent, v. C.H., Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S237762

**SUPREME COURT
FILED**

MAY 19 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A146120
Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No. J1100679
The Honorable Thomas M. Maddock, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
LAURENCE K. SULLIVAN
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

ISSUES

1. Whether an offender who has a felony adjudication reduced to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 is entitled to have his DNA database sample expunged even though the DNA Act expressly bars sample expungement after a sentence reduction “notwithstanding” any provision of law.

2. Whether the retention of an offender’s DNA identification sample in the state’s database after the offender has a felony adjudication reduced to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 violates equal protection guarantees.

INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case are the scope and operation of two voter-enacted criminal justice initiatives. In 2004, Proposition 69 expanded the use of DNA in the criminal justice system to help make communities safer, and the identification of criminal offenders more accurate. (§ 295 et seq.)¹ Section 299, subdivision (f), of Proposition 69 expressly bars DNA sample expungement from the state’s forensic identification database when a felony conviction is later reduced to a “misdemeanor for all purposes” under section 17, and “notwithstanding” any other provision of law. Section 299, subdivision (f), predicates DNA sample retention on the initial finding of guilt, rather than the ultimate status of the conviction or sentence.

Proposition 47, the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act, passed in

¹See DNA and Forensic Identification Database and Data Bank Act of 1998 (§ 295, et seq.), as modified by voter initiative, the DNA Fingerprint, Unsolved Crime and Innocence Protection Act (Prop. 69, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004) (“DNA Act”). Unless otherwise designated, further statutory references are to the Penal Code.

2014, reduces certain nonviolent felonies to misdemeanors.² It also provides a postconviction procedure to enable qualifying offenders to have a prior felony conviction resentenced as a “misdemeanor for all purposes.” (§ 1170.18.) Proposition 47 is silent about expungement of DNA identification samples, which are neither punishment nor part of any sentencing choice.

The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that the two initiatives are fully compatible and that section 1170.18 did not affect, let alone impliedly amend, section 299, subdivision (f)’s DNA expungement prohibition. Section 1170.18’s “misdemeanor for all purposes” language has a well-established meaning in the context of postconviction resentencing procedures—the reduction of a felony to a misdemeanor is forward-looking in its effect. As with section 17, a sentence reduction under section 1170.18 does not negate the original finding of guilt for the qualifying offense and does not bar application of section 299, subdivision (f)’s limitation on DNA sample expungement. The appellate court also correctly harmonized the public safety goals of both state propositions. To the extent the two initiatives may conflict, section 299, subdivision (f), as the more specific statute addressing DNA expungement, controls over the more general section 1170.18.

Additionally, the Legislature has clarified that postconviction resentencing under Proposition 47 does not entitle an offender to DNA sample expungement. Effective 2016, the Legislature added section 1170.18 to section 299 subdivision (f)’s nonexhaustive list of circumstances prohibiting DNA expungement, thus confirming that denial of a request for

² Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) §§ 5-13, pp. 71-73 (hereafter “Prop. 47 Ballot Pamp.”).

DNA sample expungement based on Proposition 47 is a correct interpretation of law.

STATEMENT

A. Court Proceedings

In 2011, appellant stole some pants from a store and kicked a store loss prevention officer in the forehead. (CT 31-33.) Later, in juvenile court, appellant admitted to committing felony grand theft (§ 487, subd. (c)) in exchange for the dismissal of allegations of second degree robbery (§ 211) and assault by force likely to produce great bodily injury (§ 245, subd. (a)(1)). Appellant was adjudged a ward of the court. (CT 3, 22-33, 100-105, 108; 1RT 2.)

In June 2015, appellant petitioned under section 1170.18 to reduce the grand theft conviction to a misdemeanor. The court granted the petition. (CT 3, 22-27, 31-33, 100-105, 108; 1RT 2.) The court, however, denied appellant's request under Proposition 47 to expunge his DNA sample collected after his felony adjudication. (CT 26, 100-107; see §§ 295, subd. (b)(2), 296, subd. (a)(1), 296.1, subd. (a)(2).)³ The court ruled: "Prop 47 does not mention DNA" and does not "embod[y] a change to the DNA

³ The parties stipulated that the briefs and argument, and the court's ruling, on the DNA expungement issue in *In re S.B.*, Contra Costa County case No. J13-01068, be incorporated as part of the record in this case. (CT 105; 1RT 4.) The same ruling applied in both this case and *In re C.B.* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 1112, review granted Nov. 9, 2016, S237801. The reporter's transcript from *S.B.* is designated "2RT." A defense motion for reconsideration of the court's DNA ruling in *In re Lamont P.*, Contra Costa County case No. J12-00947, filed on August 25, 2015, is also part of the record in this case. (1RT 8.) The reporter's transcript in *Lamont P.* is designated "3RT."

rules.”⁴ (2RT 24.) The court said, “[W]hat we are doing here today is the equivalent of a Section 17 [sentence reduction],” which is specifically referenced in the DNA Act. (2RT 24.) It cited *Coffey v. Superior Court* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 809, which held that reclassification of a felony to a “misdemeanor for all purposes” under section 17 does not authorize DNA database sample expungement pursuant to section 299, subdivision (f). (*Id.* at pp. 821-823.) The court recognized that the collection and retention of DNA samples is ordered as an “administrative” requirement akin to fingerprinting, rather than as punishment for the crime. (2RT 25; see *Good v. Superior Court* (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1494, 1508-1510 [upholding DNA collection from misdemeanant sex offender registrants regardless of conviction date, noting the DNA Act involves an administrative identification procedure like fingerprinting and is not punishment].) The court later declined to reconsider its ruling, finding unpersuasive *Alejandro N. v. Superior Court* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1209, which held a Proposition 47 sentence reduction also compels DNA sample expungement. (CT 117-121; 1RT 8-9; 3RT 9-10.)

⁴ The “DNA rules” in Proposition 69 include section 299, subdivision (f), which when enacted read: “*Notwithstanding any other provision of law*, including Sections 17, 1203.4, and 1203.4a, a judge is not authorized to relieve a person of the separate administrative duty to provide specimens, samples, or print impressions required by this chapter if a person has been found guilty or was adjudicated a ward of the court by a trier of fact of a qualifying offense as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 296, or was found not guilty by reason of insanity or pleads no contest to a qualifying offense as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 296.” (Italics added.) The three statutes cited in section 299, subdivision (f)’s nonexhaustive list of circumstances that prohibit DNA sample expungement encompass reduction of felonies to misdemeanors, dismissal of charges after a guilty verdict, and release from penalties and disabilities attending a former conviction.

The Court of Appeal affirmed. (*In re C.H.* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 1139, 1148-1149, review granted Nov. 16, 2016, S237762.)⁵ The court concluded that “Proposition 47’s directive to treat a redesignated offense as a misdemeanor ‘for all purposes’ employs words that have a well-defined meaning and have never applied to alter a crime’s original status.” (*Id.* at pp. 1143-1144.) Under the DNA Act’s section 299, subdivision (f), the court held, “offenders may not be relieved of the obligation to provide a sample because the qualifying charge has been reduced under some other law.” (*Id.* at p. 1148.) The court said the statute “at all times specified it is to be given effect ‘notwithstanding any other law,’ [so] it is unnecessary to consider whether th[e] recent amendment to Proposition 69 [in AB 1492] is a change or clarification of existing law, or is somehow impermissibly retroactive in operation.” (*Id.* at p. 1148, fn. 4.) The court recognized that the “provisions of Proposition 47 can be harmonized with our state’s DNA collection law, Proposition 69, giving effect to each measure,” including each measure’s enhancement of public safety. (*Id.* at p. 1144.) It added that “if there is any fatal conflict between the text of the two measures, Proposition 69 controls because it is the more specific law.” (*Ibid.*)

The court rejected appellant’s further claim that the retention of his DNA and profile in the state database following the passage of Proposition 47 violates his right to equal protection. (*C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1151-1152.) The court cited several purposes of the DNA Act that rationally justify retention of DNA profiles from defendants whose offenses

⁵ Although a trial court’s finding of expungement ineligibility in an individual case is ordinarily not appealable (§ 299, subd. (c)(1)), an appellate court has the discretion to review a challenge to an expungement denial that raises only a question of law regarding interpretation of the applicable statutes (see, e.g., *People v. McCray* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 258, 264-265; *Coffey v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 129 Cal.App.4th at pp. 809, 816-817).

no longer qualify for DNA collection after Proposition 47. (*Ibid.*) These include “preserving the integrity and vitality of the state’s DNA database” used for identifying offenders of violent crime as a result of a DNA match with samples taken from nonviolent offenders, protecting public safety, and exonerating persons wrongly suspected or accused of crime. (*Ibid.*)

This Court granted review on November 16, 2016.⁶

B. Legal Background

1. Proposition 69

California’s DNA Act is the product of both legislation and ballot initiative. The Legislature enacted the DNA Act in 1998, by amending a 1983 statute, and authorizing DNA sample collection for identification purposes from an expanded class of convicted violent felony offenders.⁷ On November 2, 2004, California voters, weighing the privacy of criminal offenders and the compelling public interest in safer communities, overwhelmingly passed Proposition 69, the DNA Fingerprint, Unsolved Crime and Innocence Protection Act, amending and clarifying the forensic DNA database law.⁸ Voters saw Proposition 69 as the blueprint for a

⁶ The Court granted review in *In re C.B.* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 1112, on November 9, 2016 (S237801), on similar claims. Respondent’s answering briefs in both cases contain essentially the same arguments and analysis on overlapping issues.

⁷ See former § 290.2, added by Stats. 1983, ch. 700, repealed and replaced by The DNA and Forensic Identification Data Base and Data Bank Act of 1998, § 295 et seq., added by Stats. 1998, Ch. 696, § 2; (A.B. 1332); amended by Prop. 69, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004).

⁸ Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004) text of Prop. 69, § II, Findings and Declarations, at p. 135; see also *People v. Robinson* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1104, 1116-1121 [discussing background of DNA Act and finding collection of DNA database samples from convicted offenders constitutional]; *Alfaro v. Terhune* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 492, 497-98, 505-513 [rejecting state constitutional challenge to collection of DNA database

(continued...)

criminal justice system anchored in the best “scientific technology” for “accurately and expeditiously” identifying criminal offenders and exonerating the innocent within the context of a circumscribed statutory program. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004) text of Prop. 69, § II, Findings and Declarations, at p. 135) (hereafter “Prop. 69 Findings”); § 295.1 [California Department of Justice (“DOJ”) shall perform DNA analysis “only for identification purposes”]; § 299.5 [setting forth confidentiality and privacy protections].) To this end, voters established DNA collection as an “administrative requirement” equivalent to fingerprinting—part of the routine processing of an offender who has come under the jurisdiction of the criminal justice system. (§ 295, subd. (d) [“Like the collection of fingerprints, the collection of DNA samples, pursuant to this chapter is an administrative requirement to assist in the accurate identification of criminal offenders”]; *Good v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 158 Cal.App.4th at p. 1508 [DNA sample collection is “not punitive . . . but is confined to a simple administrative identifying procedure akin to fingerprinting”]; see also *Maryland v. King* (2013) 569 U.S. __ [133 S.Ct. 1958, 1972, 1976] [DNA is an identification metric and the only difference between fingerprints, photographs, and DNA collected at booking is “the unparalleled accuracy DNA provides”].) This Court has acknowledged the compelling state interest in accurately identifying criminal offenders. (See *People v. Robinson*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1121.)

Recognizing that the “majority of violent criminals have non-violent criminal prior convictions” (Prop. 69 Findings, *supra*, § II), voters in Proposition 69 also expanded the collection of forensic identification DNA

(...continued)

samples from convicted offenders]; *Haskell v. Brown* (N.D. Cal. 2009) 677 F. Supp.2d 1187, 1190-1191, 1203.)

database samples to adults arrested for any felony offense, and to both adults and juveniles convicted or adjudicated of all felony and enumerated misdemeanor crimes.⁹ (See *C.H.*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 1150 [noting voters' view that "the majority of cold hits and criminal investigation links are missed if a DNA database or data bank is limited only to violent crimes"].) The limitation on crimes included in the database for collection is a technical one, having to do with the capacity of the California DOJ to process samples and administer the program. (See § 297, subd. (f) [limitation on qualifying felonies and misdemeanors is "for the purpose of facilitating the administration of the chapter by the Department of Justice and shall not be considered cause for dismissing an investigation or prosecution or reversing a verdict or disposition"].) Proposition 69 also makes clear that the DNA identification sample requirement for convicted and adjudicated offenders exists "regardless of sentence imposed" or "disposition rendered." (§ 296, subd. (b).)

At the same time that Proposition 69 expanded the list of qualifying offenses, it replaced blood draws with less intrusive buccal swabs for sample collection, imposed more stringent use and disclosure restrictions, and clarified the limited circumstances warranting sample expungement (i.e., destruction of the sample and deletion of the searchable DNA identification profile). (§§ 299, subd. (e), 299.5, subd. (h); see *People v. Travis* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1271, 1286-1287; *Alfaro*, *supra*, 98 Cal.App.4th at pp. 504-505, 508.) By statute, the DOJ DNA Laboratory is

⁹ See § 295, subd. (b)(2) [referencing misdemeanors]; § 296, subd. (a)(2) [requiring samples for misdemeanor offense with a prior felony conviction/adjudication of record]; § 296, subd. (a)(3) [requiring samples for misdemeanors resulting in sex or arson registration]; § 299, subd. (f); see also §§ 296, subd. (a)(1), (d) & (f), 296.1 subd. (a)(2)(A), 299.5, subd. (i)(1)(A) [referencing juveniles]; *Coffey*, *supra*, 129 Cal.App.4th at pp. 809, 815.

“responsible for the management and administration” of the state’s DNA database program (§ 295, subd. (g)) and cannot expunge DNA identification samples from convicted and adjudicated offenders who lawfully qualified for collection, except when specified by law (§ 299). Section 299, subdivision (b) authorizes expungement of a DNA database sample from convicted or adjudicated offenders only when a conviction or disposition is “reversed and the case dismissed,” when a person is “factually innocent,” or when a person has been “acquitted,” and then only when no other legal basis for sample retention exists.

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